Symbolic Meaning in Crusader Architecture
The Twelfth-Century Dome of the Holy Sepulcher Church in

Jerusalem

by Nurith KENAAN-KEDAR

Students of crusader architecture, from
Camille Enlart and Paul Deschamps to present-
day scholars, have focused their studies on
stylistic problems and on the formal character of
ecclesiastical architecture in the Holy Land,
with particular emphasis on its Western models
and sources of inspiration'. However, the
iconography or the symbolic meaning of
crusader architecture has not yet been explored
at all, despite the fact that such issues have be-
come prominent in the study of medieval ar-
chitecture in general. Indeed, studies dealing
with the meaning of Western edifices which are

strictly contemporary with crusader architecture, -

like Otto von Simson’s The Gothic Cathedral or
Erwin Panofsky’s Gothic Architecture and
Scholasticism, have been recognized as major
contributions to the study of medieval thought

&

and architecture?. The purpose of the present
study is to investigate the symbolic. meaning of a
prominent example of crusader architecture,
namely the dome which crowns the new
crusader Church of the Holy Sepulcher in
Jerusalem (fig. 1).

The Church of the Holy Sepulcher which the
crusaders encountered upon their conquest of
Jerusalem on July 15, 1099, was a largely
reconstructed building. The dome of the Con-
stantinian Rotunda, demolished in 1009 on the
orders of the caliph al-Hakim, was rebuilt
between 1030 and 1048 thanks to Byzantine
intervention at the Fatimid court®. The
groundplan of the Rotunda was retained, but an
upper gallery and a large eastern apse were
added to it. The fourth-century rectangular
courtyard, which stood between the destroyed

1. The two domes of the church seen from the southeast (present-day view).




Constantinian basilica and the Rotunda, was al-
tered by the erection of three chapels on the
eastern.side. The Omphalos, marking the center
of the world, was situated east of the Rotunda’s
large eastern apse*.

The construction of the new crusader church
started in about 1114, and the new edifice was
consecrated on July 15, 1149, the fiftieth an-
niversary of the crusader conquest’. Taking into
account the existing structures of the Rotunda
and the courtyard on the one hand, and adher-
ing to the patterns of French Romanesque
churches on the other, the planners of the
crusader church had to cope with the problem of
joining their church to the Rotunda, which was
now oriented, by virtue of its large apse, toward
the east. They decided to tear down the large
eastern apse and to join the Rotunda directly to
the new church which was to be erected within
the framework of the eleventh-century court-
yard.

The groundplan of the new church, read from
west to east, represents the partial ground-plan
of a twelfth-century French Romanesque
church, and not necessarily of a great pilgrimage
church (fig. 2 and 3)° Lacking a nave and
aisles, the sanctuary was attached directly to the
Rotunda by a great triumphal arch (see A on
Plan, fig. 2) which opened into the crossing (B).
Elevated on four combined pillars carrying
slightly pointed arches and crowned with a
dome, the crossing formed the center of a
transept with northern (C) and southern (D)
protruding arms. The northern arm was created
by incorporating a Constantinian structure (E),
while the southern was formed by the addition
of an entrance bay (F). Calvary became an
eastern upper chapel (G) adjoining the southern
transept and the double-portal fagade (H,-H,
and fig. 4) was located at that arm’s southern
extremity. On the upper level, the Franks added
a gallery which linked the eleventh-century
upper floor of the Rotunda with Calvary and
continued on the southern side of the new choir,
all more or less on the same level. There was
also a gallery on the northern arm of the
transept, but the two galleries did not link.

The mathematical middle of the longitudinal
axis of the entire complex, which runs between
the two extreme chapels of the Rotunda and of
the new church (I, I,), is situated under the
western supporting arch (M) of the crossing. In
other words, the crusader church is equal in its
length to the Rotunda. This is hardly accidental,
as the urban layout of the time allowed for a
much larger edifice. A highly significant though
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hitherto unnoticed fact is that the module
employed by the crusader architect was that of
the radius of the inner circle of the Rotunda (r),
amounting to 10.40 metres. The diameter of the
crusader dome equals one module: in other
words, this diameter amounts to one half of the
diameter of the Rotunda’s dome. Moreover, the
module was used seven times for the length of
the entire complex and four times for its width;
the recourse to these numbers was certainly in-
tentional. The distance between the great trium-
phal arch (A), the western supporting arch (M)
of the crossing, and the crossing’s center (B), is
half a module at a time’.

While the mathematical middle is located
under the western supporting arch, the visual
center of the entire complex is the dome-
crowned crossing itself. Standing in the crossing,
the faithful could see the two sanctuaries, old
and new. The crossing’s centrality was em-
phasized by the location of the fagade with its
double portals (H,-H;) on the transversal axis
(E-F) running through the crossing. Each portal,
located on either side of the axis, is half a
module wide; in other words, the width between
the portals’ outer columns is one module. The
employment of this dictating module was under-
lined by locating the gallery-supporting twin
columns (J) between the two combined pillars
(N}, N,) in the south, and by placing an addi-
tional column (K) between the two combined
pillars (P,, P,) in the north. The distance
between pillar and intermediate column is half a
module in each case. Entering the church from
the south, the believer confronted first the dome-
crowned crossing, and only then would proceed
in either of the two directions. Thus the new
complex, comprising of the Rotunda and the
crusader church, should be read from the center
to both sides rather than from west to east.

The Omphalos, which had previously been in
the courtyard of the eleventh-century church?®,
was designated now, according to John of
Wiirzburg — a pilgrim who visited Jerusalem
about 1165 — by little circles engraved in the
middle of the new crusader choir of the canons.
John explains that this spot was considered the
middle of the earth. He further relates that at
the same spot Jesus appeared to Mary Mag-
dalen after his resurrection, and Joseph obtained
the body of Jesus from Pilate®. Theoderic, a
German who made his pilgrimage in 1172, says
that “about the middle of the choir there is a
concave and small though venerable altar, in the
pavement of which a little encircled cross is im-
pressed”. Similarly to John of Wiirzburg he re-
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2. Groundplan of the Crusader Church of the Holy Sepulcher.

3. Plan of the Church of the Holy Sepulcher, ca. 1686, prepared by the crew of Gravier d'Ortiéres,
Captain of the ship Jason, who visited the eastern Mediterranean under the orders of Louis XIV
(Paris, Bibl. Nat. Rés. Ge. DD 226 (20).
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4. Elevation of the Church of the Holy Sepulcher, ca. 1686, prepared by the same (Paris, Bibl. nat.

Rés. Ge. DD 226 (21).

lates that at this spot Joseph and Nicodemus
laid the body of Jesus after its deposition from
the cross, but he does not mention the Om-
phalos, or Compass, at all'®. However, the
charters granted to the canons by Patriarch
Amalric in 1169, by Pope Alexander I in
1170, and by Pope Lucius III in 1182, explicitly
situate the Compass in medio chori vestri, and
three anonymous writers of the late twelfth cen-
tury present the middle of the canons’ choir as
the world’s midpoint''. Thus no less than eight
twelfth-century sources refer to the medium, or
mi liu, of the choir of the canons. We may as-
sume that this ‘middle’ is merely a visual indica-
tion which places the Omphalos at the center of
the dome-crowned crossing (B) rather that at
the mathematical center (M) half a module to
its east.

The crossing — as well as the bay and the
apse to its east — was also the place where
liturgy and royal ceremony were performed.
Indeed, as the new crusader church was con-
ceived without longitudinal nave and aisles —
though with upper-level galleries — traditional
concern with the provision of space for the as-
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sembly of the faithful appears to have been
secondary. This may have resulted from the fact
that the church consisted of stations in the
pilgrim’s itinerary (e.g., Calvary, the Prison of
Christ), with the Rotunda being a sanctuary in
its own right '2,

In an architectural complex of this articula-
tion the choice of a second, smaller dome for the
crossing rather than of any other vaulting
system, as well as the choice of double portals,
must have been intentional. The symbolism of
the dome, the arch, and the portals (fig. 4) in
medieval architecture has been explored time
and again'’. The dome represents the dome of
heaven ; the arch and the portals symbolize tri-
umph terrestrial and celestial. The selection of
these particular elements for the new crusader
church will be now examined within the
framework of contemporary architectural con-
cepts in the West, as well as of the reality of
twelfth-century. Jerusalem.

The role of the Holy Sepulcher in medieval
thought, liturgy, liturgical drama and represent-
ational arts cannot be overestimated. Its image
assumed sundry forms, concrete and symbolic.



In Western architecture, the Rotunda of the
Anastasis constituted an influential prototype
which was frequently copied between the fifth
and the seventeenth century'®. Moreover,
whether forming part of a biblical scene or serv-
ing as a symbol, the Rotunda was also com-
monly depicted, from early Christian times on-
ward, on ivories and glass as well as in
monumental painting and sculpture. Therefore
onc may assume that at least some of the
crusaders who arrived in Jerusalem in 1099 had
a preconception of the building’s appearance.

On the other hand, it is common knowledge
that the Christian sanctuary was traditionally
perceived, mystically and liturgically, as an im-
age of the Heavenly Jerusalem described in
Revelation 22 and prefigured by the Temple of
Solomon. This Temple, erected through divine
inspiration, was conceived as an ideal model for
a church, since its perfect praportions reflected
cosmic harmony '*. Indeed, Suger of St. Denis,
who consecrated his abbey church just seven
years before the consecration of the crusader
Church of the Holy Sepulcher, writes : “I used
to compare the least to the greatest : Solomon’s
riches could not have sufficed for his Temple
any more than did ours for this work, had not
the same Author of the same work abundantly
supplied His attendants. The identity of the
author and the work provides a sufficiency for
the worker '°.” In numerous consecration rites a
new church was presented as the Temple of
Solomon 7, and in several Romanesque churches
there were inscriptions like that of the Abbaye
des Moreaux which reads : UT FUIT INTRO-
ITUS TEMPLI SCI SALOMONIS, SIC EST
ISTIUS IN MEDIO BOVIS ATQUE
LEONIS . These allegorical images, widely
known and used in Western Europe by the clos-
ing years of the eleventh century, became a con-
crete reality for the crusaders when they stood
confronted with the two magnificent, dome-
crowned edifices of the Temple Mount, the
Dome of the Rock and the Mosque of al-Agsa.

These edifices were excluded from the Chris-
tian ‘holy geography’ from the Byzantine period
onward . In crusader Jerusalem, however, they
played a major role from the beginning. The
Dome of the Rock was identified as the
Templum Domini and, immediately after the
conquest of Jerusalem, it was converted into the
Church of the Templum Domini. The crusaders
regarded it either as the ancient biblical Temple
or as commemorating the site of the Temple in
which events from the life of Jesus, such as the
circumcision, the presentation in the Temple,

and the expulsion of the merchants, had oc-
cured . They believed that the edifice was
erected by one of the Christian emperors,
Helena, Justinian or Heraclius. The possibility
that it was built by the Muslims was also con-
sidered *'. The al-Aqsa Mosque was identified by
the crusaders as the Templum Salomonis or
Palatium Salomonis *’. It was used as the palace
of the early crusader rulers, who regarded the
Kings of Judea as their predecessors in the Reg-
num David. The Palace of Solomon served as
the center of government for the first two
decades of the realm until Baldwin I moved the
palace to the citadel in 1119 and gave parts of it
to the new Military Order of the Templars 2.

With the consolidation of crusader rule, the
Templum Domini became ever more important.
The earliest chroniclers of the First Crusade, the
anonymous author of the Gesta Francorum and
Raymond of Aguilers, write that after the con-
quest the Franks came in great numbers to pray
in the Church of the Holy Sepulcher. But
Fulcher of Chartres, who wrote somewhat later
in Jerusalem, reports that after the conquest the
Franks went “ad sepulcrum Domini et Templum
eius gloriosum” : that is, for Fulcher the
Templum Domini has become a secondary goal
of the crusaders®*. Moreover, Achard d’Ar-
rouaise, prior of the Templum Domini, mentions
it even before the Holy Sepulchre Church, ex-
pressing his thanks to God who liberated
“templum suum cum sepulcro” during his
lifetime . Similarly, the Jerusalem-born Wil-
liam of Tyre, reconstructing the Clermont Ad-
dress by Urban II, makes the pope exclaim that,
under the Saracens, the Templum Domini was
turned into an abode of demons and the Church
of the Holy Sepulcher was polluted by Gentile
filth %,

From the earliest days of the Crusader
Kingdom, Jerusalem was centered around the
two rival foci of the Holy Sepulcher Church and
the Temple Mount. The rivalry antedated the
arrival of the crusaders. The Jerusalem-born
Muslim author al-Muqaddasi, writing in the late
tenth century, relates that the caliph ‘Abd al-
Malik, “noting the greatness of the dome of the
[Holy Sepulcher] and its magnificence, was
moved lest it should dazzle the minds of the
Muslims, and hence erected above the Rock, the
dome which now is seen there” and that during
the building of the Mosque of al-Agsa the Mus-
lims “had for a rival and as a comparison the
great Church [of the Holy Sepulcher] belonging
to the Christians at Jerusalem, and they built
this to be even more magnificent than the
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other*’.” Heribert Busse and Sylvia Schein have
shown that during the crusader period this
rivalry was expressed in the transfer of holy
traditions from the Holy Sepulcher to the
Templum Domini. While in previous times such
traditions were moved from the Temple Mount
to the Holy Sepulcher, now efforts were made to
bring them back to the Templum Domini, in
order to establish it as a holy place second in
importance only to the Holy Sepulcher 2. It is
noteworthy that the major crusader building
campaigns at the two sanctuaries were com-
pleted within the same decade: the renovated
Templum Domini was consecrated on April 9,
1141%°, the crusader church of the Holy
Sepulcher on July 15, 1149.

These two foci were linked by the specific
liturgy of crusader Jerusalem. The celebration of
the great events of the liturgical year started at
the Holy Sepulcher Church and ended at the
churches commemorating them. The ceremonies
- of the presentation in the Temple and the
purification of the Virgin both started at the
Holy Sepulcher Church and ended in the
Templum Domini. The Palm Sunday procession,
for which the True Cross was taken out of the
treasury of the Holy Sepulcher Church, started
in Bethany, entered the Temple Mount through
the Golden Gate, and continued to the Templum
Domini and its surroundings **. The procession
celebrating the crusader conquest of the city on
July 15, 1099 and the consecration of the
crusader Holy Sepulcher fifty years later,
started in that church, passed through various
stations to the Templum Domini and terminated
near the north-eastern wall where a cross
marked the penetration into the city by the
knights of Godfrey of Bouillon 3.

According to the Assises of Jean d’Ibelin, the
coronation ceremony followed a similar itinerary.
Riding from the royal palace to the Holy
Sepulcher Church, the king was received before
its portals by the patriarch of Jerusalem and
numerous clergy. The coronation itself took
place in the choir of the canons in front of the
altar?, that is, in the crossing under the dome,
or under one of the dome’s eastern supporting
arches, or immediately to its easte

It is pertinent to examine here the mosaic
decoration of the area in question. The accounts
of John of Wiirzburg and Theoderic concur with
regard to location and subject-matter. John
describes a mosaic which depicts Christ rising
from the dead, bursting the gates of Hell, and
drawing Adam thereof. This mosaic is situated
in the choir, above the major altar dedicated to
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the Anastasis. Theoderic writes that Christ is
depicted on the choir’s ceiling, holding a cross in
his left hand and Adam in his right. Looking
upward imperially, with his right foot still on
earth and his left raised in a gigantic step, he is
entering Heaven, while his mother, John the
Baptist, and all the Apostles stand around *.
Thus, both pilgrims describe a mosaic depicting
the Anastasis, an obvious theme for the Church
of the Resurrection. This theme, originating in
Byzantium but frequently presented also in the
West >, was associated with imperial iconog-
raphy. The mosaic described by the two pilgrims
may be compared with the mosaic of the Anas-
tasis in the Nea Moni in Chios and the two
scenes of the Pala d’oro in Venice. It always
represents the triumph of Christ 35,

The mosaic, situated according to Theoderic
in celatura (“on the ceiling”), may have been
located either in the dome or in the vault over
the bay preceding the apse, or in the apse
conch®. In any case, the coronated king was
seated either under the image of Christ Trium-
phant or with the depiction serving him as a
backdrop. Moreover, he was very close to the
spot which, as John of Wiirzburg puts it, was
considered the center of the world according to
“the verse: Operatus est salutem in medio terrae
(Psalms 73:12)*. Thus the site of the corona-
tion made the parallelism between Christ and
king amply evident. As Ernst Kantorowitz has
stated about the Western coronation ceremony,
“the new government was linked [by it] with the
divine government and with that of Christ, the
true governor of the world. During the ceremony
of the consecration... the images of King and
Christ had been brought together as nearly as
possible %.” -

After the Coronation Mass, the procession left
the Holy Sepulcher Church for the Templum
Domini, where the king placed his crown “on
the altar where Our Lord was presented to
Saint Simeon”. The analogy between Christ and
king is emphasized again. The coronation was
concluded at the Palatium Salomonis, where a
banquet was served . These three stations —
Church of the Holy Sepulcher, Templum
Domini, Palatium Salomonis — recall the three
stations of the festival coronation in the West:
church, cathedral and palace, with a banquet
taking place at the latter®, It is noteworthy,
however, that in Jerusalem the Templum
Domini assumes the role of the cathedral and
the banquet is served in the Palatium Salomonis,
not in the actual royal palace near the city’s
citadel. )



The royal house was connected by manifold
tics to the Holy Sepulcher Church. The anniver-
sary of the death of Godfrey of Bouillon,
regarded advocatus sancti Sepulcri in his
lifetime, was solemnly celebrated in the
church*'. Godfrey and all the kings of the First
Crusading Kingdom were buried under Golgotha
(L)) or at the southern entrance (L,) to the
crossing 2, and, from 1131 onwards, all corona-
tions took place within the church. The wording
of the charter of 1114 which inaugurated the
renovatio of the chapter of the Holy Sepulcher,
strongly suggests that King Baldwin I was the
moving force behind it*. It is often assumed
that work at the new crusader church started
some time after this re-organization*’. Much of
the building must have taken place in the days
of King Baldwin II (1118-31), who also trans-
ferred the royal residence to the citadel. Accord-
ing to the Old French translation of William of
Tyre’s Historia and Jean d’Ibelin’s Assises,
Baldwin Il was ordained a canon of the Holy

4. Sepulcher Church on his deathbed*’. His

grandson Baldwin III, under whom the new
church was consecrated, was equally a canon of
the Sepulcher . Thus at least two of the rulers
in whose days the church was under construc-
tion, were members of its chapter.

To sum up: The crusaders, accustomed to
regard Solomon’s temple as an ideal, literary
prototype of a church, were confronted in
Jerusalem with an earthly Templum Domini,
built upon the site of Solomon’s temple, as well
as with Solomon’s palace which was sometimes
called Templum Salomonis. At the same time,
they encountered the Church of the Holy
Sepulcher, an age-old model for many churches
in the West. The crusaders established manifold
ties between the Temple and the Sepulcher, and
their kings were prominently linked to both, as
well as to the Palace of Solomon.

It is plausible to assume that this complex si-
tuation led to the choice of a dome for the defi-
nite vaulting of the new crusader Church of the
Holy Sepulcher and to the erection of the double
portals, both charged with symbolic meanings.
According to this hypothesis, the new crusader
dome related to three pre-existing domed monu-
ments of the city: the Templum Domini and the
Palatium Salomonis which represented the tem-
ple and the palace of the biblical kingdom and
fulfilled at the same time contemporary needs of
church and palace; and the Rotunda of the Holy
Sepulcher church which, from Constantinian ti-
mes onwards, symbolized the New Jerusalem as
well as Christ’s resurrection, -and prefigured

Heavenly JeruSalem*’. Thus the planners of the
new, smaller dome over the crusader church had
two immediate models, the dome of the Rotunda
of the Anastasis, and the architectural panorama
of the Temple Mount dominated by a greater
and a lesser dome, with the diameter of the
greater almost twice as large as the smaller **.
One may advance the hypothesis that the plan-
ners conceived a dome which was to relate to
the Rotunda in the same way as the lesser dome
of the Palatium Salomonis related to the greater
dome of the Templum Domini. Thus, the new
crusader dome may be considered as expressing
the idea of a royal church or, metaphorically,
the idea of the new palace of the crusader kings
near the new temple - the Holy Sepulcher —
with its greater dome.

However, while we may assume that the
domed panorama of the Temple Mount inspired
the crusader program of the Holy Sepulcher
complex, there can be no doubt that the
crusader architect used the measurements of the
Rotunda’s dome as the dictating module for the
new edifice, with the diameter of the new dome
equalling one half of the old.

As 1 have suggested elsewhere, the double
portals of the Church of the Holy Sepulcher
were modeled on the double portals of the
Golden Gate which gives access to the Temple
Mount from the east*’. Apparently Christ’s tri-
umphal entry into Jerusalem through the Golden
Gate was perceived as a prefiguration of the
crusader conquest of the city, with each event
symbolized by a double-portal edifice. The ac-
clamation of a crusader king in front of the
Church of the Holy Sepulcher probably evoked
the image of Christ’s advent, on Palm Sunday,
through the original double portal.

Thus there emerges a two-stage dialogue
between the Temple Mount and the Church of
the Holy Sepulcher: in the Umayyad period, the
dome of the Rotunda served as the model for
the Dome of the Rock; in the twelfth century,
the domes on the Temple Mount inspired the
disposition of the new crusader church. The ar-
chitectural complex of the Holy Sepulcher
Church in its entirety, with its two domes and
double portal, was to be the new urban counter-
part of the Temple Mount as well as the symbol
of the New Kingdom.

Tel-Aviv University
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